Avallenau

SM94651420        OS 25” XXVII.11      St Thomas, Haverfordwest

1948 Sale Notice.  32 acres (the family retained land at the west of the Milford road)

4th August 1999 for sale by Evans Roach (Western Telegraph)                    

The (post-railway) entrance to the property (1997) is just south of the railway bridge at the foot of  Dredgemans Hill on the A4076 road to Milford Haven. The drive goes east, past a modernised lodge on the left, curving south east and then south where it is parallel with and close to Hayletts Lane. To the east lay a boundary wall with stream/ditch to the outside. On the west was an iron fence bounding the park/meadow. Many small regrowth? seedling? trees remain on each side with a few larger trees (beech, pine, cupressus (macrocarpa?). The drive then turns west across the north front of the house.

A north-south leylandii hedge divides the site roughly in half. The mansion on a terrace overlooks the park/meadow. To the north and east is a sprawling retirement home development. 

Nothing remains of the conservatory except, possibly, a  brick wall.
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Meeting with Mr James Eaton-Evans on 4th December 1997

William Evans was the (eldest?) son of Evans of Bletherston. He became a lawyer having trained and practised in Narberth. On 2.10.1787 he married Mary Eaton of Parc Glas, Crinow and they went to live at nearby Blackaldern.

About 1800 he took over a practice at 12, High Street, Haverfordwest, one of the oldest houses in the town. He was mayor and he died in 1828.

William Eaton Evans b1796 married Cecil(?) Warlow the daughter of a farmer near Milford Haven. He became a friend of William Owen (carpenter turned architect of Scolton, the Shire Hall and the New Bridge).

In 1845 he built Avallenau but died suddenly in 1849.

His widow moved and let the house firstly to Roger Powell, his partner and secondly to Dawkins (Greenish and Dawkins, Commerce House, Market Street) who later built Haylett Grange about 1870.

William’s third son Edward b1835 became a solicitor. He married Georgina Stokes, d of Col. George William Stokes of Scotchwell and his wife nee Fortune of Leweston. This was a decided move up the social scale – Gentleman. Died 1924.

In 1854 the railway was built cutting off a piece of land at the northern tip of a triangle which contained the lodge and land along the south side of Hakin Road which included the walled garden (of which only a stone wall at right angle to the railway remains dividing two industrial yards - photograph). The carriage drive entrance was moved to open on to Dredgemans Hill (Milford Road) south of the railway. The lodge was eventually demolished and replaced by a garage building.

This lodge had been a gardener’s cottage in Mr Eaton-Evans younger days.

William Gerge Eaton-Evans (1867-1939) was married to Gladys Mary Ponting (1881-1963). Mrs Evans ran the house during the war – child refugees – and maintained the gardens. She was a very keen gardener. She developed four lawns behind the house with the sundial (photo) from Leweston as a centrepiece and with wide borders and low rockeries. East of these was a level area used as a croquet lawn and tennis court. Eastwards again were tree plantings and vegetable garden.

What remains?

Mr Eaton-Evans states that, in 1949, the County Council acquired the mansion and grounds by compulsory purchase at £6000 for an old people’s home. A house was built behind the mansion for the superintendant but was never occupied by one. Low rise accommodation was built at the eastern side of the park. The county architect acquired land near the entrance for a dwelling – The Nookery (“Crookery”?). A hedge was planted north-south and the south-western part was offered for sale.

Mr John of Hylton John the mens outfitter purchased at £300,000 but hit planning snags when he wished to develop an hotel/restaurant. 

There used to be a tradesman’s entrance onto Dredgemans Hill due west of the house.

As Mr Eaton-Evans recalls there used to be two glasshouses: the conservatory at the east side was heated by a flu which went the length of the floor and up the “end” wall; the greenhouse in the garden behind was more modern – free standing with a hot water heating system. Both were fuelled by culm.

Documents in file:

Text including interview with Mr J. Eaton-Evans

Map (where?)

Photocopies of 1871 photographs (2) PRO HDX/164/15/8

Colour photographs of mansion 1997 (2) GH

Ditto coach-house and garden(2) GH

2 Copies of  statue in gable/cornice 

Colour photographs of Sun Dial (4) GH

2 Copies of sundial

Colour photograph of remaining wall of walled garden

Sale Notice 1999  Evans Roach and Co

Sale Feature Western Telegraph 25th August 1999

Notes and handwritten account of meeting with Mr Eaton Evans 4th December 1997

Family history of the Eaton-Evans by James Eaton-Evans and Pedigree

Lort Phillips Family pedigree

The Rev George Phillips Family pedigree

Western Telegraph 22nd May 2002  “Businessman buys Avallenau”

Western Telegraph 19th June 2002  Report re planning application for business use.

WesternTelegraph 23rd June 2004  Feature on James Eaton-Evans with a photograph of the mansion with the motorcycling solicitor in front. Note: the ground floor is boarded up

Western Telegraph 11th January 2006  Report and photograph of additions to the retirement home complex (Merlin’s Court?) which now fills the lower (northern) half of the desmene.

